STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from York County

APR 18 2013

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TROY TERRELL BAXTER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-187486

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress evidence gleaned from the stop and search of Appellant's vehicle due to erroneously finding law enforcement had probable cause to search under the automobile exception where the traffic stop for speeding was wrongfully delayed by the arresting officer, and where any reasonable articulable suspicion regarding the presence of drugs was already investigated and dispelled by a second officer and a drug dog?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Troy T. Baxter was indicted by the York County grand jury on March 25, 2010, for possession with intent to distribute marijuana. R. 5, lines 10-13; R.237 (Indictment). His case proceeded to trial from February 28 through March 1, 2011, before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. Appellant was represented by Ashley Anderson (Counsel), while his codefendant Larick P. Burris was represented by Robert Reeves. The State was represented by Teasa Weaver. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant and codefendant guilty of the lesser included offense of simple possession of marijuana. R. 229, lines 6-19. The trial court imposed a sentence of one year. R. 233, lines 10-11.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Troy T. Baxter (Appellant) and Larick P. Burris (Codefendant) were driving northbound along I-77 in York County on September 11, 2009, when they were stopped at approximately 5:05 PM by Deputy Lonnie Vinesett, Jr., of the York County Sheriff's Department for driving 66 or 67 mph in a 60 mph speed zone.¹ R. 11, line 24—R. 13, line 8; R. 98, lines 8-24; R. 100, lines 4-20; R. 116, lines 15-24. After Vinesett initiated his blue lights,² Appellant pulled his car safely off the roadway with plenty of room on the side and Vinesett pulled up behind. R. 119, lines 16-25.

Vinesett exited the police cruiser and approached the passenger side of Appellant's car. R. 13, lines 9-14; R. 64, lines 6-8. Because it was still daylight, Vinesett neither had the headlights of his police cruiser on to illuminate Appellant's car, nor did he bring a flashlight with him when he approached to see inside Appellant's vehicle; it was not raining, and Vinesett did not have any difficulty with visibility. In short, Vinesett was able to see clearly inside the vehicle. R. 27, line 23—R. 28, line 9; R. 100, line 18—R. 101, line 10.

At the very beginning of the traffic stop, Vinesett observed Codefendant lighting a cigarette. When Vinesett arrived at the front passenger window, he asked for Appellant's driver's license and registration, and received Appellant's license, and a copy of the rental agreement for the vehicle. R. 13, line 17—R. 14, line 2; R. 18, lines 10-15. According to

¹ Vinesett did not determine Appellant's speed by radar; rather, he purportedly estimated Appellant's speed through "pacing" Appellant's vehicle from several traffic lanes away and where other vehicles were present. R. 98, line 11—R. 99, line 19; R. 119, lines 1-2.

² The video of the traffic stop showed that the letter "L" appeared on the display immediately after Vinesett radioed to dispatch that he was making a traffic stop. Appellant pulled his car over shortly after blue lights were activated. R. ii, (State's Exhibit #1, DVD).

Vinesett, he also saw four to five small green particles on the black shirt of Codefendant, which Vinesett later stated he believed was marijuana residue. R. 15, line 8—R. 16, line 12; R. 64, line 22—R. 65, line 9; R. 124, lines 3-16. However, Vinesett did not have Codefendant exit the vehicle when he saw what he believed was marijuana, did not he ask Codefendant what was on the shirt, and did not search the vehicle at the time. R. 25, lines 9-22; R. 103, lines 4-18. Instead, Vinesett had Appellant exit the vehicle and walk to the back of the car, and while walking Appellant to the back of the vehicle Vinesett radioed for Deputy William R. Gibson, II, (Gibson) to assist on the scene.³ R. 16, lines 6-14; R. 27, lines 5-8; R. 65, lines 12-20; R. 68, lines 8-11; R. 103, lines 4-6.

Once at the back of Appellant's car, Vinesett questioned Appellant about where he was coming from and where he was going. Appellant explained that he was coming from Rock Hill where he saw his sick grandmother, picked up his little cousin, ate lunch at the Shrimp Boat, and was headed back to Charlotte. R. 14, lines 12-21; R. 17, lines 8-23; R. 66, lines 2-13; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD). While speaking with Appellant, Vinesett already determined he was just going to write a warning ticket for speeding. As a result, Vinesett indeed wrote a warning ticket to Appellant approximately three minutes from when the vehicle was stopped and showed it to Appellant; however, Vinesett did not hand the warning ticket to Appellant at the time. R. 26, line 4—R. 27, line 4; R. 102, lines 5-11; R. ii, (State's Exhibit #1, DVD).

³ Gibson is a senior officer with 17 years of law enforcement experience and specially trained with the drug interdiction team, with illegal substances such as marijuana, and to handle drugs sniffing canines such as "Justice," the certified drug sniffing dog with which Gibson was working on September 11, 2009. R. 137, line 10—R. 139, line 21; R. 143, lines 12-16.

Vinesett also walked back to the passenger window and took Codefendant's identification as well. Codefendant was questioned; he likewise indicated he was coming from Rock Hill, and said he was coming from the court, which Vinesett believed was a basketball court due to Codefendant's apparel. Codefendant further mentioned that he ate lunch at the Shrimp Boat. R. 17, lines 4-7; R. 66, lines 15-23. During this time, Vinesett noticed no green particles on Codefendant's shirt. R. 15, lines 16-19. Regardless, Vinesett later stated that he had all intentions of searching the vehicle once he saw what he believed was marijuana residue on Codefendant's shirt. Yet, rather than investigating the matter himself after another officer arrived, Vinesett instead elected to call Gibson in order to "basically get his opinion to see if he can see it. To get the dog just basically to verify what [he] had [seen]."⁴ R. 38, line 17—R. 39, line 1.

Gibson arrived, and Vinesett told him that the driver's hand was shaking, and that the occupants gave conflicting stories. R. 16, lines 22-25; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD). As indicated on the video itself, Vinesett told Gibson he "could have sworn [he] saw little green particles on [Codefendant's] shirt," and asked Gibson to speak with Codefendant and "see if he could see anything." R. 18, lines 2-4; R. 27, lines 12-22; R. 68, lines 8-17; R. 125, line 13—R. 126, line 2; R. 138, lines 7-23; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD) (emphasis added). As requested, Gibson investigated by walking up, removing Codefendant from the car, and speaking with him; he then returned to Vinesett and indicated that he did not see anything on

⁴ At the suppression hearing, Vinesett admitted that he could not conclusively say that the green particles he claimed to have seen on Codefendant's shirt when he first walked up was marijuana at that point. R. 36, line 22—R. 37, line 2; R. 38, lines 5-9.

Codefendants shirt except cigarette ashes, and that Codefendant was smoking. R. 18, lines 5-15; R. 29, line 20—R. 30, line 7; R. 37, lines 3-10; R. 69, lines 2-8; R. 103, line 22—R. 104, line 13; R. 126, lines 3-19; R. 138, line 24—R. 139, line 1; R. 142, line 1—R. 143, line 11. Additionally, Gibson did not indicate that anything fell off Codefendant's shirt, nor did he see any green plant material anywhere else in the car when the door was opened and Codefendant exited the vehicle. R. 29, line 20—R. 30, line 13; R. 143, lines 8-11. Vinesett then acknowledged to Gibson that Codefendant "lit up a cigarette shortly after the stop." R. 37, lines 8-10; R. 69, lines 4-8; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

Despite Gibson's observations, Vinesett decided to further investigate. R. 126, lines 9-21. Specifically, Vinesett instructed Gibson to ask Appellant for permission to search the vehicle, and for Gibson to run his drug-sniffing canine around the vehicle if Appellant did not consent. R. 18, lines 20-22; R. 69, lines 9-15; R. 138, line 12—R. 139, line 4. Vinesett finally radioed to dispatch to check Appellant's driver's license; at this point, approximately eight minutes had transpired since Vinesett initiated the stop. R. 27, lines 9-11; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

Appellant refused to give consent to the search of his vehicle. R. 19, lines 14-20; R. 30, lines 17-19; R. 69, lines 11-15; R. 147, lines 12-13. Gibson then proceeded to work his drug-sniffing canine, "Justice," around the vehicle beginning at the front passenger side of the car, then around the back of the vehicle and up to the front grill, and then back around to the trunk area, and up to the front passenger-side again. Moreover, Gibson actively pointed to areas on the vehicle for "Justice" to smell, which specifically included the area around the passenger door. In fact, "Justice" was actually stood-up with paws and head directly in the open passenger window area. R. 19, lines 1-3; R. 30, line 23—R. 31, line 4; r. 37, lines 17-

21; R. 69, lines 16-18; R. 105, lines 1-3; R. 127, line 1—R.128, line 8; R. 143, line 17—R. 144, line 10; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

However, "Justice" never alerted to the presence of drugs at any time. R. 19, lines 4-8; R. 31, lines 5-7; R. 37, lines 22-23; R. 70, lines 2-3; R. 104, lines 23-25; R. 128, lines 9-10; R. 140, line 2; R. 144, lines 11-14; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD). Furthermore, Gibson detected no odor of marijuana in the car or on either Appellant or Codefendant, and saw no marijuana or any drug paraphernalia either in the car or on Appellant or codefendant.⁵ R. 30, lines 5-13; R. 142, lines 5-22; R. 144, lines 15-21; R. 146, line 19—R. 147, line 4.

By the time Gibson returned to Vinesett's cruiser, Vinesett had already finished running Appellant's driver's license and information, which came back without any outstanding warrants. R. 31, lines 7-16; R. 32, line 25—R. 33, line 5. By this time, over twelve minutes had passed since Vinesett initiated the traffic stop. R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD). Yet, Vinesett still further inquired to dispatch whether Appellant had any special South Carolina designations on his North Carolina license ostensibly regarding prior convictions. R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

Gibson informed Vinesett that "Justice" did not alert to the presence any drugs. R. 140, lines 3-9. Although Appellant's driving information had come back clean, and despite the fact that Vinesett already wrote out a warning ticket, and despite the fact that further investigation—at Vinesett's direction—by both an experienced drug interdiction officer and "Justice," a trained drug-sniffing police dog, yielded negative results for the presence of

⁵ It is also notable that Vinesett detected no order of marijuana either emanating from the vehicle or when dealing with Appellant or Codefendant, and that he saw no marijuana paraphernalia either in the car or on Appellant or Codefendant. R. 91, line 20—R. 92, line 20.

drugs, Vinesett still refused to release Appellant and Codefendant. Instead, Vinesett continued to run Codefendant's identification through dispatch for warrants. R. 33, lines 12-25. Approximately fourteen minutes had passed by this time. R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

After finally giving Codefendant's information to dispatch, Vinesett took the flashlight from his cruiser, walked to the passenger door of Appellant's car, and shined his light straight down the inside of the passenger door through the top window area. He then claimed to see "a couple of pieces" of green plant material particles on the floor between the seat and the door "right on the door crack." R. 19, line 21—R. 20, line 13; R. 23, lines 2-12; R. 31, line 5—R. 32, line 18; R. 33, lines 3-25; R. 36, lines 11-21; R. 70; R. 108, line 4—R. 109, line 9; R. 128, line 17—R. 130, line 25; R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD). Approximately fourteen minutes and forty-four seconds expired from the time Vinesett initiated the traffic stop for speeding. R. ii, (State's Ex. #1, DVD).

Vinesett subsequently opened the door and found a mason jar wrapped in a damp shirt beneath the front passenger seat. The jar contained bagged marijuana, as did the coin drawer on the driver's side dash located below the headlight switch area. R. 20, line 14—R. 21, line 4; R. 73, lines 1-7; R. 75, line 14—R. 76, line 2; R. 87, line 14—R. 89, line 11; R. 112, lines 1-20; R. 132, lines 10-24.

Appellant's case proceeded to trial. A pre-trial suppression hearing was held where Vinesett was the sole witness. R. 11, lines 12-25. Appellant argued that the traffic stop was unlawfully extended; therefore, even if a warrant exception applied at the time Vinesett looked down inside of the passenger door through the window area with his flashlight and saw a green plant material on the door crack, it would still be unlawful as fruit of the poisonous tree. Counsel further asserted that even if the traffic stop was not unlawfully

extended, Vinesett's search was not supported by probable cause. R. 40, lines 1—R. 45, line 15.

The State responded by asserting Vinesett had probable cause to search the car once he saw what he believed to be green particles on Codefendant's shirt when he first walked up to the vehicle, but "still wanted to verify what he saw was to confirm that what he saw was marijuana. He asked the other officer . . . to confirm that." R. 45 line 19—R. 46, line 5 (emphasis added). It further argued that Vinesett was allowed to extend the traffic stop "to try to get consent or to, to walk the drug dog, but . . . he could have searched the vehicle when he first saw that, and the fact that he just wanted to confirm what he saw, your Honor, he could extend the traffic stop." R. 46, line 7—R. 47, line 4.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress, and found that the automobile exception applied. R. 51, 14-15. Specifically, the court reasoned as follows:

[The State] kind of hit on it at the end of everything else when [it] said, that is, Officer Vinesett, would have a right, once he saw the, what he considered to be marijuana on the shirt of the passenger, Mr. Burris. They're a lot of issues that ran through my mind on this case including whether the dog not hitting, Officer Gibson not confirming that there was, whether or not that, in effect, rendered a reasonable suspicion or probable cause, ineffective that is, to have a reasonable suspicion, and then it's not confirmed by two other sources, does that mean your reasonable suspicion or probable cause disappears.

I don't think it does. So I'm gonna deny the motion to suppress that based solely on the automobile exception.

R. 49, line 14—R. 50, line 2. Thus, the trial court followed the State's reasoning, and ruled that Vinesett had probable cause to search based on the presence of what he believed was marijuana on the shirt of Codefendant, and that such reasonable suspicion or probable cause

did not dissipate due to the intervening investigation by Gibson and the drug-sniffing dog that failed to indicate the presence of drugs. R. 49, line 14—R. 50, line 5.

Vinesett was the first witness called by the State during trial, and he specifically testified to finding marijuana in Appellant's vehicle. R. 71, line 1—R. 73, line 7; R. 75, line 2—R. 84, line 22; R. 87, line 17—R. 90, line 6. Cynthia Mitchum, of the York County Sheriff's Office drug analysis department, testified on behalf of the State as an expert in chemical analysis and identification of substances. Over Counsel's objection based upon her pretrial arguments regarding omissions of all items found from search, the trial court admitted the marijuana into evidence.⁶ R. 168, lines 2-21; R. 174, lines 7-17.

Moreover, the State repeatedly referred to the presence of marijuana found in Appellant's car during its closing argument. For example, State maintained that it did not think "there's gonna be a real big dispute about what was found in this car was marijuana." R. 183, lines 7-8. It continued to attack the defense by saying, "[t]he fact they found that the marijuana in the car confirms what [Vinesett] saw. They are not gonna want you to focus on that." R. 185, lines 17-19; R. 186, lines 21-22; R. 187, lines 21-22.

The jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser included offense of simple possession of marijuana, and the trial court imposed the maximum sentence of one year.

This appeal follows.

⁶ Counsel again renewed all of her prior motions both at the close of evidence, and after the jury rendered its verdict, which were denied by the trial court. R. 178, lines 5-7; R. 230, lines 5-7.

ARGUMENT

The trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress evidence gleaned from the stop and search of Appellant's vehicle due to erroneously finding law enforcement had probable cause to search under the automobile exception where the traffic stop for speeding was wrongfully delayed by the arresting officer, and where any reasonable articulable suspicion regarding the presence of drugs was already investigated and dispelled by a second officer and a drug dog.

The trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress evidence of marijuana taken from Appellant's car. First, the scope and duration of the investigation required for the initial traffic stop for speeding concluded prior to the search for marijuana. See § A, infra. Moreover, Vinesett possessed neither reasonable articulable suspicion nor probable cause to prolong the traffic stop into a second investigatory detention and search for drugs. See § B, infra. Yet, even assuming *arguendo* that police had a reasonable articulable suspicion to initiate a second investigative detention for the presence of drugs, the suspicions supporting such an investigative detention were objectively and conclusively dispelled by the subsequent investigations of an officer and a drug-sniffing canine. See § C, infra. As a result, Appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to suppress the tainted evidence in his trial for possession of marijuana. See § D, infra.

“The Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States grants citizens the right to be secure against unreasonable search and seizure.” State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010) (citing U.S. Const. amend. IV). Also, the Fourth Amendment is applicable to the States through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 655, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 1691 (1961). Further, it is well settled that “[t]emporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and limited purpose, constitutes a seizure of

persons within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.” State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 623 S.E.2d 840, 847 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996)); see also Delaware v. Prouse, 440 U.S. 648, 653, 99 S.Ct. 1391, 1396 (1979) (“[S]topping an automobile and detaining its occupants constitutes a ‘seizure’ within the meaning of [the Fourth and Fourteenth] Amendments, even though the purpose of the stop is limited and the resulting detention quite brief.”).

Traffic stops are reviewed under the standard set forth in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968), because a traffic stop is more analogous to an investigative detention than a custodial arrest. See United States v. Digiovanni, 650 F.3d 498, 8506 (4th Cir. 2011). Consequently, Terry outlines a two-prong test for analyzing the constitutionality of a traffic stop: (1) whether the police officer’s action was justified at the inception of the traffic stop; and (2) whether the police officer’s subsequent actions were reasonably related in scope and duration to the circumstances that justified the stop.

Id.

Under the “scope and duration” prong, “detention must be strictly tied to and justified by the circumstances which rendered its initiation proper.” State v. Rodriguez, 323 S.C. 484, 493, 476 S.E.2d 161, 166 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 103 S.Ct. 1319 (1983)); see also Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“The scope and duration of seizure must be strictly tied to and justified by the circumstances which rendered its initiation proper.”); “It is the State’s burden to demonstrate that the seizure it seeks to justify on the basis of a reasonable suspicion was sufficiently limited in scope and duration to satisfy the conditions of an investigative seizure.” Royer, 460 U.S. at 500, 103 S.C. at 1326; see also State v. Woodruff, 344 S.C.

537, 551, 544 S.E.2d 290, 297-98 (Ct. App. 2001).

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