STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County  
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2011-187486

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TROY TERRELL BAXTER,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

APR 01 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the marijuana discovered during the course of the traffic stop because the stop was conducted in a reasonable manner and the officer who stopped Appellant's rental vehicle developed sufficient probable cause to justify a search of the vehicle after he observed a substance he recognized through his training and experience as marijuana at the outset of the stop.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in failing to suppress the marijuana discovered during the traffic stop of Appellant's rental vehicle. Appellant maintains the stop was unlawfully extended without reasonable suspicion or probable cause and, even if the officer had sufficient reasonable suspicion to extend the stop, the officer's suspicions were dispelled prior to discovering the marijuana. To the contrary, Officer Vinesett did not measurably extend the duration or scope of the approximately fifteen-minute-long traffic stop through any of his investigative actions and, even if the stop was extended into a second detention, developed reasonable suspicion and probable cause to believe a crime had been committed after he observed what he believed to be marijuana based on his training and experience on the shirt of the passenger at the outset of the traffic stop. Furthermore, even though a drug-detection dog failed to alert on the vehicle and another officer failed to observe any marijuana on the passenger's shirt, Officer Vinesett's probable cause to search the vehicle for contraband was not dispelled because he personally observed marijuana on the passenger's shirt and on the floor of the vehicle. Therefore, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the marijuana, and his ruling was supported by the evidence. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). In Fourth Amendment search and

seizure cases, the appellate court is limited to determining if there is any evidence to support the trial court's findings and can only reverse due to clear error. State v. Flowers, 360 S.C. 1, 5, 598 S.E.2d 725, 727 (Ct. App. 2004); see State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000) (“[W]e will review the trial court’s ruling like any other factual finding and reverse if there is clear error. We will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.”). The reviewing court may conduct its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by the evidence. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2002). However, the appellate court must affirm the trial court if there is any evidence in the record to support the ruling. State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005). Critically, the appellate court will **not** reverse merely because it would have reached a different conclusion than the trial judge. State v. Rivera, 384 S.C. 356, 361, 682 S.E.2d 307, 310 (Ct. App. 2009).

## **ANALYSIS**

### **A. Reasonableness of the Detention**

The Fourth Amendment protects “[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. That guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures, including those involving only a brief detention. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 97, 623 S.E.2d at 847. “The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness.” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). Thus, only unreasonable searches and seizures are prohibited. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see Maryland v. Buie, 494 U.S. 325, 331 (1990) (“It goes without saying that the Fourth Amendment bars only unreasonable searches and seizures[.]”).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). The reasonableness of a stop or detention “is measured in objective terms by examining the totality of the circumstances.” Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39 (1996). However, the initiation of a traffic stop is reasonable per se when probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred. State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002). Furthermore, “a minor traffic violation arrest will not be rendered invalid by the fact it was a ‘mere pretext for a narcotics search.’ ” State v. Corley, 383 S.C. 232, 240, 679 S.E.2d 187, 191-192 (Ct. App. 2009) (citations omitted). “Subjective intentions play no role in ordinary, probable-cause Fourth Amendment analysis.” Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 813 (1996).

A lawful traffic stop begins at the point an officer stops a vehicle to investigate a traffic violation and “ordinarily continues, and remains reasonable, for the duration of the stop.” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 333 (2009). Once a lawful traffic stop is initiated, an officer may order the driver and any passengers out of the vehicle pending completion of the stop and “may request a driver’s license and vehicle registration, run a computer check, and issue a citation.” Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 847 (citing United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126 (4th Cir. 1998)); see Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 415 (1997) (“[A]n officer making a traffic stop may order passengers to get out of the car pending completion of the stop.”). “Normally, the stop ends when the police have no further need to control the scene, and inform the driver and passengers they are free to leave.” Johnson, 555 U.S. at 333.

During the course of the stop, an officer can inquire into matters unrelated to the initial justification for the stop without converting the stop into something other than a lawful seizure so long as the unrelated questioning does not measurably extend the duration of the stop. Id.; see also Muehler v. Mena, 544 U.S. 93, 100-101 (2005) (instructing additional questioning during a detention unrelated to the original purpose of the detention does not constitute an additional seizure or independent Fourth Amendment violation). Such an investigatory traffic stop must be temporary and last no longer than necessary to effectuate its purpose. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848; see also United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328, 336 (4th Cir. 2008) (“The maximum acceptable length of a routine traffic stop cannot be stated with mathematical precision. Instead, the appropriate constitutional inquiry is whether the detention lasted longer than was necessary, given its purpose.”).

Even if a traffic stop is initially lawful, the detention “can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission.” Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 98, 623 S.E.2d at 848 (“Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention.”). However, a further detention extending the scope of a traffic stop beyond its original purpose is not automatically unconstitutional. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848. Instead, continued questioning beyond the duration of an initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible where: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter. Id.

Reasonable suspicion consists of “ ‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641,

644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)). “Reasonable suspicion ‘is not readily, or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules, but, rather, entails common sense, nontechnical conceptions that deal with factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent persons, not legal technicians, act.’ ” State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 500, 706 S.E.2d 513, 516 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 781 (4th Cir. 2004)). “In this highly fact-specific inquiry, reasonable suspicion ‘is a fluid concept which takes its substantive content from the particular context in which the standard is being assessed.’ ” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 51-52, 707 S.E.2d 451, 453 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Foreman, 369 F.3d at 781). The reasonable suspicion standard “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence[.]” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000). “Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”).

In determining the existence of reasonable suspicion, the totality of the circumstances must be considered. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 104, 623 S.E.2d at 85. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the individual factors of the traffic stop must not be considered piecemeal or in isolation. See Branch, 537 F.3d at 337 (“Courts must look at the ‘cumulative information available’ to the officer . . . and not find a stop unjustified based merely on a ‘piecemeal refutation of each individual’ fact and inference[.]” (citations omitted)). Instead, all of the circumstances of the stop, including

the officer's own experience and specialized training, must be considered as a whole to determine whether the officer's actions were reasonable in light of all of the information available to him at the time. See United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (“[J]ust as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion.”); see also United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002) (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing. The process allows officers to draw on their own experience and specialized training to make inferences from and deductions about the cumulative information available to them that ‘might well elude an untrained person.’ ” (citations omitted)). “In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of a case, ‘[i]t is the entire mosaic that counts, not single tiles.’ ” Wallace, 392 S.C. at 52, 707 S.E.2d at 453 (quoting United States v. Whitehead, 849 F.2d 849, 858 (4th Cir. 1988)).

In the case sub judice, the traffic stop of Appellant’s vehicle was objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances, and any further extension of the scope of the stop was supported by reasonable articulable suspicion and probable cause. Initially, Officer Vinesett unquestionably had probable cause to initiate the traffic stop after observing Appellant commit a traffic infraction by exceeding the speed limit. See State v. Nelson, 336 S.C. 186, 193, 519 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1999) (“As a general matter, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where police have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred.”). Thereafter, during the course of the ensuing traffic stop, Officer Vinesett developed reasonable suspicion and probable cause based on

the suspicious factors he observed, which permitted the officer to extend the scope and duration of the stop.

Most critically, Officer Vinesett, who was specifically trained in the detection and identification of marijuana and other illegal substances, directly observed green plant material he believed to be marijuana on the shirt of Appellant's passenger when he initially approached the vehicle at the outset of the traffic stop. See Cortez, 449 U.S. at 418 (“[A] trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions – inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.”). Based on his training and experience, Officer Vinesett immediately recognized the green plant particles on Burris' shirt as marijuana, which provided the officer with reasonable suspicion and probable cause to believe the crime of possession of marijuana was being committed. See Foster, 269 S.C. at 379, 237 S.E.2d at 592 (“[The officer] immediately spotted what looked to be heroin, which gave him probable cause for arrest.”); see also United States v. Burnett, 791 F.2d 64, 67 (6th Cir. 1986) (finding an officer had probable cause to search an entire vehicle and seize evidence during a traffic stop after he observed a clear plastic bag containing a leafy green vegetable substance that was determined to be marijuana on the floorboard of the vehicle); United States v. Orozco, 715 F.2d 158, 160 (5th Cir. 1983) (“Once he had observed the marijuana, Officer Michalke unquestionably had the authority to look into the glove compartment and to arrest Orozco.”); People v. Clark, 92 Ill. 2d 96, 100, 440 N.E.2d 869, 871-872 (Ill. 1982) (holding an officer had probable cause to conduct a warrantless search of an automobile during a traffic stop after observing a green leafy substance that appeared to be marijuana on the floor in front of the driver's seat during the course of the stop); Gillard v. State, 662 S.W.2d 34, 36 (Tex. Ct. App. 1983) (finding an officer's observation of a green leafy substance believed to be marijuana on the

floorboard of a vehicle during a traffic stop provided probable cause to conduct a warrantless search of the vehicle); see, e.g., United States v. Burge, 683 F.3d 829, 832 (7th Cir. 2012) (“Absent some reason to doubt the veracity of the affidavit, the officers’ direct observations of what they believed from training and experience to be marijuana plants provided probable cause to issue a search warrant.”); State v. Casillas, 393 So. 2d 694, 696 (La. 1981) (“[E]ven if the entire package was not in plain view (as [Casillas] contends), the officer had probable cause to search, once he saw what he reasonably believed to be marijuana, under the existing circumstances.”); State v. Moore, 659 S.W.2d 252, 255 (Mo. Ct. App. 1983) (“A police officer with some training and experience in the recognition of controlled substances who sees through a window material he believes to be marijuana has probable cause to believe *someone* inside is or recently was unlawfully in possession of a controlled substance.” (italics in original)); People v. Clark, 172 A.D.2d 848, 848, 569 N.Y.S.2d 211, 211 (N.Y. App. Div. 1991) (holding the conduct of the officers in conducting a search during a lawful traffic stop was entirely proper where the officers observed packages containing what appeared to be marijuana and cocaine based on the officers’ training and experience during the course of the stop).

Furthermore, as the traffic stop progressed, Officer Vinesett observed several other factors raising his suspicions, including: (1) Appellant and his passenger presented inconsistent stories about where they were coming from, with Appellant claiming they had visited their hospitalized grandmother and Burris claiming they were coming from a basketball court; (2) Appellant was driving a rental car, which has been recognized as an indicator of drug activity; and (3) Burris’ hands were visibly shaking when he interacted with Officer Vinesett. See Wallace, 392 S.C. at 55, 707 S.E.2d at 455 (finding

inconsistent stories from a driver and passenger, nervousness, and third-party vehicle ownership to be relevant factors in establishing a reasonable articulable suspicion of drug activity); Provet, 391 S.C. at 504, 706 S.E.2d at 518 (considering the fact third-party vehicle ownership is commonly connected with drug trafficking in finding the officer had reasonable suspicion to extend a traffic stop). However, even without consideration of those additional factors, the fact that Officer Vinesett personally observed a substance he reasonably believed to be marijuana based on his training and experience in the detection of illegal substances established reasonable suspicion of criminal activity and probable cause to believe a crime was being committed under the totality of the circumstances. See Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 273 (“[W]e have said repeatedly that [reviewing courts] must look at the ‘totality of the circumstances’ of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a ‘particularized and objective basis’ for suspecting legal wrongdoing.”). Therefore, Officer Vinesett was justified in expanding the scope of his investigation and the duration of the traffic stop.

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